
 

 High Peak Borough Council 

 
 

 
THE EXECUTIVE - INDIVIDUAL EXECUTIVE DECISIONS 
 

Date: 
 

Monday, 3 April 2023 

 

 

PART 1 

1. Melandra Management Agreement (Pages 3 - 12) 

 
MARK TRILLO 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR & MONITORING OFFICER 
 

 

 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

The Executive - Individual Executive Decisions 
 

3 April 2023 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

Melandra Management Agreement 
 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 

Councillor Anthony McKeown – Leader of 
the Council 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: 
 

David Smith - Head of Communities and 
Climate Change 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
Gamesley 

 
 

Appendices Attached – Appendix A: Section 17 Agreement 

 
 
1. Reason for the Report 

 

1.1 To obtain agreement to enter into a Section 17 Management Agreement with 

Historic England. 
 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Executive Councillor agrees to the Council entering into the 
agreement. 

 
 
3. Executive Summary 

 
3.1 Ardotalia (more commonly known known as Melandra or Melandra Castle) is a 

Roman fort in Gamesley. The site is owned by High Peak Borough Council. It 
is a Scheduled Ancient Monument and is listed on the Heritage at Risk 
Register.  

 
3.2 Discussions have been ongoing for some time with Historic England 

recognising the importance of the site, its current condition and the 
responsibilities of the Borough Council as landowner. The discussions  have  
sought to identify ways in which the borough working with other partners can 

address issues with the site leading to the development of a Section 17 
Management Agreement for the site. 

 
  

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



  

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 

4.1 The action supports delivery of Aim 4: Protect and improve the environment 

including responding to the climate emergency 
 

 
5. Alternative Options 

 

5.1 None identified. 
 
6. Implications 

 
6.1

  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 

 
None 

 
6.2 Workforce 

 

On-going site maintenance will be carried out by AES 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 
None 

 
6.4 Financial Considerations 

 

The Council has set aside £20,000 to provide match funding to the 
£20,000 that will be provided by Historic England on entry into the 

Management Agreemnts 
 

6.5 Legal 

 
The law protecting scheduled monuments is found in the Ancient 

Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act 1979 
 

6.6 Climate Change 

 
An ecological audit of the site is planned 

 
6.7 
 

Consultation 
 

Discussions have taken place with Historic England, Salford 
University, Atkins and Glossop and Longdendale Archaeology 

Society (GLASS). 
 

6.8 

 

Risk Assessment 

 
There is a risk of further deterioration of the site without an agreed 

management plan being put in place. Works at the site are only 
permitted with consent from Historic England. 

 

Page 4



  

Neil Rodgers 
Executive Director (Place) 

 

 
Web Links and 

Background Papers 

Contact details 

https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/heritage-at-
risk/search-register/list-entry/35502 

 
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-
books/publications/scheduled-monuments-guide-for-

owners-and-
occupiers/guideforownersofscheduledmonuments/ 
 

https://nationalhighways.co.uk/designated-funds/ 
 

David Smith 
Head of Communities and Climate Change 

david.smith@highpeak.gov.uk 
 

 

7. Detail 
 

7.1 Ardotalia (more commonly known known as Melandra or Melandra Castle) is a 

Roman fort in Gamesley. 
 

7.2 The first fort at the site is believed to have been built around 78 AD as part of 
the British Roman ruler Agricola’s drive northwards to conquer the Brigantes 
tribe. It was called Ardotalia, meaning ‘Place of the High Dark Hill’. The fort 

walls and all the interior buildings were made of wood. The only stone building 
was the bath house situated just to the north of the fort. The origins of the 

name Melandra are unknown but may have been introduced by John Watson, 
Rector of Stockport, who visited the site in around 1771. 

7.3 The fort’s defensive walls were rebuilt in stone around 108 AD and were likely 

to be around 12 feet high and 4 feet thick standing on top of earth ramparts 
that were 16 feet wide and just over 3 feet high. A stone tower stood at each 

rounded corner of the fort stood, just within the walls, and there also were four 
stone double-tower gatehouses (one in the centre of each side) and each gate 
(other than the southern gate which was much smaller reflecting its more 

vulnerable position) had a double door. The walls were fronted by deep and 
wide trenches. The Principia (or Headquarters building) was also remade in 

stone at this time. This important building included an assembly hall and 
shrine for the unit’s altars and standard, as well as the records’ and 
commander’s offices. The exterior bath house was also extended and two new 

rooms (a hot room heated by a second hypocaust, and a cold room) added 
against the existing walls of the three original ones. Two more rooms, one of 

which was a dressing room, were built at a later date. 

7.4 A civilian settlement (vicus) grew up around a Roman fort, which had a 
protective stockade on top of a banked earthwork around its outskirts and now 

lies mostly under the Gamesley housing estate. 
 

7.5 The site has been subject to a range of extensive archeological investigations 
over the years, with items from the site been available to view at the Buxton 
museum. In more recent years the Glossop and Longdendale Archaeology 

Society have held a number of open days and presentations to promote 

Page 5

https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/heritage-at-risk/search-register/list-entry/35502
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/heritage-at-risk/search-register/list-entry/35502
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/scheduled-monuments-guide-for-owners-and-occupiers/guideforownersofscheduledmonuments/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/scheduled-monuments-guide-for-owners-and-occupiers/guideforownersofscheduledmonuments/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/scheduled-monuments-guide-for-owners-and-occupiers/guideforownersofscheduledmonuments/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/scheduled-monuments-guide-for-owners-and-occupiers/guideforownersofscheduledmonuments/
https://nationalhighways.co.uk/designated-funds/


  

interest in the site. 
 
7.6 The site is owned by High Peak Borough Council. It a Scheduled Ancient 

Monument and is listed on the Heritage at Risk Register, with the following 
assessment: 

 
Assessment Type: Archaeology 

Condition: Generally unsatisfactory with major localised problems 

Principal Vunerability: Deterioration - in need of management 

Trend: Improving 

Ownership: Local authority 

 

7.7 The Secretary of State has the power to execute any works that are urgently 

necessary for the preservation of the fort. It is a criminal offence to destroy or 
damage a scheduled monument either intentionally or through recklessness. It 

is also a criminal offence to 

 use a metal detector (defined as any device designed or adapted for 
detecting or locating any metal or mineral in the ground) on the site of a 

Scheduled Monument; or to 

 remove objects of archaeological or historic interest from the site of a 

Scheduled Monument that have been discovered though the use of such 
equipment; 

unless prior consent has been obtained from English Heritage in the form 

of a Section 42 licence. It is known that metal detectorists have been active at 
the site. 

 
The Council has regular contact with the local safer neighbourhood team, to 
try and address any issues around inappropriate use of the site including 

trail/quad bikes. 
 

7.8 A range of approaches have been considered in recent years, to improve and 
secure the future of the site including the potential for establishing a trust. 

 

7.9 Prior to the Covid 19 pandameic – a renewed period of discussion with 
Historic England on options to improve the condition of the site have been 

undertaken. 
 
 Recognising the importance of the site, its current condition and the 

responsibilities of the Borough Council as landowner, the discussions reached 
the conclusion that a Section 17 Management Agreement for the site, would 

provide the best way of putting in place additional resources to help improve 
the site going forwards. 

 

7.10 A copy of the draft agreement is provided at Appendix A and includes a 
programme of regular management and maintenance works in line with the 

agreed recommendations from the forthcoming updated Conservation 
Management Plan (CMP) that is being produced by Salford University and 
Atkins. The Borough Council has the ability to agree or amend the CMP before 

Page 6



  

its formal adoption, which removes the risk of signing-up to a plan under the 
Section 17 without the full details of that plan being available. 

 

7.11  Historic England have agreed to provide £20k to support delivery of the 
Management Agreement on the understanding that this will be matchfunded 

by the Borough Council. This funding will be used to deliver the site 
maintenance as outlined in the Agreement. 

 

7.12 This work by Atkins at the site results from a successful application for a grant 
from National Highways’ Designated Fund (Environment and Wellbeing) for 

£21,000 for a feasibility project on the fort linked to their work on the nearby 
A57. This would be Phase 1 of a two phase project looking at the site.  

 

 In discussion with Historic England, they have scoped this first phase to 
include:  

 Setting up aworking group 

 Updating the 2013 Conservation Management Plan  

 Carrying out an Archive Audit 

 Site visit with specialists and stakeholders 

 Consideration of interpretation options 

 Ecology survey, and an 

 Outline condition survey 

 
7.13 This work has commenced and a further report will be presented for Members 

as additional information becomes available. 
 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 
 

 

Historic England, The Foundry, 82 Granville Street, Birmingham B1 2LH 

Telephone 0121 625 6870 - HistoricEngland.org.uk 

Please note that Historic England operates an access to information policy. 

Correspondence or information w hich you send us may therefore become publicly available.  

 
 

 

 
HISTORIC BUILDINGS AND MONUMENTS COMMISSION FOR ENGLAND        

 
AA/030838/4  

MA:792 

 
Management Agreement under Section 17 of the Ancient Monuments and 

Archaeological Areas Act 1979 & Class Consent 8 of the Ancient Monuments 
(Class Consents) Order 1994 (Works Carried Out Under Certain Agreements 
Concerning Ancient Monuments)  

 
NATIONAL MONUMENT No 1004595 / DR 8   1st March 2023 

 
1. This agreement is made under Section 17 of the Ancient Monuments and 

Archaeological Areas Act 1979 between the Historic Buildings and Monuments 

Commission for England (Historic England) and High Peak Borough Council as 
owner of (part of) the scheduled ancient monument known as Melandra Castle 

Roman Fort (National Monument No. 1004595 / DR 8) and shown in red on the 
attached map, for the period of five years from the date of the owners' signature. 
 

2. The specific provisions of this Management Agreement are made under Section 
17 (4)(a) of the Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act 1979 (as 

amended). Class Consent 8 of the Ancient Monuments (Class Consents) Order 
1994 will facilitate the execution of the agreed works by High Peak Borough 
Council which would otherwise require Scheduled Monument Consent.  

 
3. In consideration of the payment to them by Historic England of the sum of 

£20,000 for a series of capital works (described in 2.12 below) the owner agrees 
to undertake the following obligations in respect of the site of the monument: 

 

2.1 Undertake a programme of regular management and maintenance works 
in line with the agreed recommendations from the Conservation 

Management Plan (Salford University / Atkins, 2023); 
 

2.2 Control weeds and invasive vegetation where these are impacting the 

preservation of the monument and maintain a healthy grass cover on the 
other areas, as appropriate and where identified within the approved 

Conservation Management Plan; 
 

2.3 Control burrowing animals; 

 
2.4 Maintain public access routes around and through the scheduled 

monument; 
 

2.5 Maintain in a good condition the upstanding remains within the scheduled 

monument, addressing any area requiring repair and consolidation due to 
decay or damage. No works shall commence until the scope and 

Page 9

http://trim-eh/webdrawer/webdrawer.dll/webdrawer/rec/57937/


 

 

 

 
 

 

Historic England, The Foundry, 82 Granville Street, Birmingham B1 2LH 

Telephone 0121 625 6870 - HistoricEngland.org.uk 

Please note that Historic England operates an access to information policy. 

Correspondence or information w hich you send us may therefore become publicly available.  

 
 

 

specification of works has been agreed in writing with Historic England, on 
behalf of the Secretary of State for Culture, Media and Sport; 

 
2.6 Maintain in a good condition the earthwork remains within the scheduled 

monument, addressing any area requiring management or erosion repair.  

Areas requiring management or repair shall be notified to Historic England 
and no works shall commence until a specification for works have been 

agreed in writing with Historic England, on behalf of the Secretary of State 
for Culture, Media and Sport; 

 

2.7 Not to undertake any other works unless expressly included in this 
agreement. Other works will require Scheduled Monument Consent from 

the Secretary of State for Culture, Media and Sport. This applies to: 
 

a) any works resulting in the demolition or destruction of or any damage to 

a scheduled monument; 
 

b) any works for the purpose of removing or repairing a scheduled 
monument or any part of it or of making any alterations or additions to 
it; and 

 
c) any flooding or tipping operations on land in, on or under which there is 

a scheduled monument. 
 

It is a criminal offence to carry out works to a monument which do not 

have authorisation 
 

2.8 Not to afford any person access to the land in question for the purpose of 
using a metal detector if they cannot produce the written consent of 
Historic England (It is in any case an offence under Section 42 of the Act 

to use a metal detector on a scheduled monument without the written 
consent of Historic England); 

 
2.9 Agree and implement a protocol within High Peak Borough Council for the 

reporting of unauthorised metal detecting or any other instances of 

heritage crime to Derbyshire Police and Historic England;  
 

2.10 To permit any authorised representative of Historic England to have 
access to the monument at any reasonable time without prior notice; 
 

2.11 If their occupation of the monument ceases before the expiry of this 
agreement, to notify Historic England accordingly and to repay, if so 

required, the appropriate portion of the payment made to them by the 
Historic England. 
 

2.12 Commission and carry out a programme of capital works up to the value of 
£20,000, to a scope and specification approved in writing with Historic 

Page 10



 

 

 

 
 

 

Historic England, The Foundry, 82 Granville Street, Birmingham B1 2LH 

Telephone 0121 625 6870 - HistoricEngland.org.uk 

Please note that Historic England operates an access to information policy. 

Correspondence or information w hich you send us may therefore become publicly available.  

 
 

 

England. The works would be undertaken in line with the policies and 
recommendations in the Conservation Management Plan. The capital 

works covered by this Section 17 Management Agreement must be 
agreed in writing with Historic England, but are envisaged to comprise:  

 

i. Repair and consolidation of the low masonry remains marking out 
location of Principia building, as per the agreed recommendations 

from the Conservation Management Plan 
 

ii. Repair and consolidation of historic masonry within the scheduled 

monument with the written approval of Historic England 
 

iii. Reinstating the grassed over modern pathways within the scheduled 
monument, implementing, where necessary (and approved in writing 
with Historic England) a programme of archaeological monitoring and 

investigation. All archaeological works must be undertaken in line with 
a Written Scheme of Investigation agreed and approved in writing 

with Historic England, on behalf of the Secretary of State; 
 

iv. Commissioning the design, production and installation of a new 

interpretation board for the scheduled monument; 
 

v. Commission and reinstate replicas of the lost Ministry of Works 1979 
Act plaques to be installed on existing plinths within the scheduled 
monument; and 

 
vi. Where budget allows, commission a programme of investigation and 

monitoring works to assess land-slippage within the scheduled 
monument as a result of historic quarrying activity. This can include 
installation of survey points, where necessary  

 
4. Amendments to this agreement, and changes or additions to the specification of 

the capital works, can be agreed in writing with Historic England, on behalf of the 
Secretary of State; 
 

5. This Management Agreement covers only those works for which the Secretary of 
State for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport is the decision-maker under Section 2 

of the 1979 Act.  It does not provide for works to be executed without application 
for any other form of consent (planning, ecological etc.) which may be necessary 
for the same works; 

 
6. The Commission agrees to pay the sum mentioned in paragraph 2 above upon 

receipt of this agreement signed by the occupier. 
 
 

 
 

Page 11



 

 

 

 
 

 

Historic England, The Foundry, 82 Granville Street, Birmingham B1 2LH 

Telephone 0121 625 6870 - HistoricEngland.org.uk 

Please note that Historic England operates an access to information policy. 

Correspondence or information w hich you send us may therefore become publicly available.  

 
 

 

SIGNATURES 
 

For High Peak Borough Council 
 
 

 
 

…………………………………………………………   DATE …………..…….. 

David Smith                            
Head of Communities and Climate Change 

High Peak Borough Council 
 

 
 
For Historic England 

 

 
……………………………………………………………   DATE …9st March 2023… 

Nick Carter,                 
Inspector of Ancient Monuments  
Historic England, Midlands Region  

Historic Buildings and Monuments Commission for England 
 

 
  

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 12


	Agenda
	1 Melandra Management Agreement
	Appendix


